IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE N0. 95,561

OCALA BREEDERS' SALES COMPANY, INC., Appellant,

v.

FLORIDA GAMING CENTERS, INC. d/b/a/ OCALA JAI ALAI, Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT (DCA NO. 97-4783)

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Daniel S. Pearson FBN 062079 William F. Hamilton FBN 379875 Linda Collins Hertz FBN 162608 701 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 374-8500

CERTIFICATION AS TO TYPE STYLE

We hereby certify that this brief has been produced using proportionately spaced 14-point CG Times font.

INTRODUCTION

Our client, Ocala Breeders' Sales Company, Inc. ("Breeders"), which operates a permanent thoroughbred horse sales facility in Marion County and holds a license issued by the State of Florida Department of Business and Professional Regulation, Division of Pari-Mutual Wagering ("the Division"), to conduct limited intertrack wagering there, appeals from a final decision by the First District Court of Appeal, declaring section 550.615(9) of the Florida Statutes (1997) unconstitutional both as a special law and as violative of equal protection. Joined by the State of Florida, we had appealed to the District Court from a final summary judgment entered by the Leon County Circuit Court on a declaratory judgment action brought by appellee Florida Gaming Centers, Inc., d/b/a/ Ocala Jai Alai ("Jai Alai"), against our client and the Division.

The District Court affirmed the trial court's finding that section 550.615(9) was unconstitutional, ordered the Division to cease issuing an intertrack wagering license to Breeders, and enjoined Breeders from conducting intertrack wagering at its Marion County facility. During the pendency of our appeal, we filed a suggestion of mootness based upon newly enacted section 550.6308 of the Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998) and the subsequent issuance to us of a license to conduct intertrack wagering pursuant to the new statute, but the District Court rejected our mootness argument and reached out to decide the constitutional issue. On this

STATUTES

appeal we again contend that the statute is constitutional and that the District Court's decision must be reversed on either the mootness issue or the constitutional issue, or both.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A.

Relevant Proceedings in the Circuit and District Courts

This case began with a complaint for declaratory judgment filed in July 1995 by Jai Alai against Breeders and the Division, challenging the constitutionality of section $550.615(9)^1$ of the Florida Statutes, entitled "Intertrack wagering," as a special law or a denial of equal protection (1R 1-13).² On December 5, 1997, the trial court entered its order finding section 550.615(9) unconstitutional as challenged, ordered the Division to cease issuing an intertrack wagering license to Breeders and enjoined Breeders from conducting intertrack wagering at its Marion County thoroughbred horse sales facility.³

Breeders and the Division timely filed a joint appeal and the trial court, recognizing the continuing presumption of constitutionality of the legislative

Page

¹ Although the complaint cited to former numbering of the statute, we use throughout a renumbered, but otherwise unaltered version as amended in 1996. The text of section 550.615(9), Florida Statutes (1997) is attached as Appendix A.

² We refer to the record of the trial court by volume and page numbers, as reflected in the record index, *e.g.*, "1R 1-13" refers to volume 1, pages 1-13.

³ A copy of the Final Judgment is attached as Appendix B.

STATUTES

enactment while the matter was on appeal, approved and enforced a stay of its order pending the joint appeal.⁴ By the end of April 1998, Breeders had filed its Initial Brief, the Division had adopted Breeders' brief, and Jai Alai had filed its Answer Brief.

On May 1, 1998, the Legislature approved a new provision of law, entitled "Limited intertrack wagering license," and it became a law on May 24, 1998. *See* Ch. 98-190, §§ 11 & 14, Laws of Fla.; Art. III, § 8(a), Fla. Const. The new law was designated section 550.6308 of the Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998).⁵ On May 14, 1998, Breeders filed a suggestion of mootness, calling the District Court's attention to the fact that the new statute in effect superseded the statute at issue on the appeal (App. E-1).⁶ The District Court promptly ordered Jai Alai to show cause "why the suggestion of mootness ... should not be granted" (App. E-2). Jai Alai responded that a license under the new statute could not be sought until January 1999 and that Breeders still was operating under a license issued pursuant the former statute (App. E-3). We filed a reply on mootness (App. E-4), and on June 2, 1998, a panel of the District Court deferred consideration of the mootness

Page

⁴ A copy of the stay order is attached as Appendix C.

⁵ The text of new section 550.6308 is attached as Appendix D.

⁶ We have filed Directions to the Clerk of the First District Court of Appeal to include in the record all pleadings regarding the mootness issue. A copy of our Directions is attached as Appendix E; we will refer to "App. E- $\underline{\#}$ " to identify the documents by the corresponding numbering used in the directions.

STATUTES

issue to the merits panel (App. E-5). We filed our Reply Brief on June 18, 1998, and the District Court scheduled oral argument for January 27, 1999 (App. E-6).

On January 13, 1999, Breeders applied for an intertrack wagering license under new section 550.6308(1) for the remainder of the 1998-1999 fiscal year as well as for the 1999-2000 fiscal year (*see* App. E-7, attach). On January 21, 1999, we filed a supplement in the District Court, reiterating our mootness suggestion and attaching a copy of Breeders' new application (App. E-7). *Jai Alai agreed that our suggestion was well-taken*, responding on January 25, 1999 that:

Appellee ... acknowledges that in light of the passage of time and the recent developments described in the ... January 21 Supplement and Update, for all practical purposes the ruling of the trial court will become moot by the time a decision is rendered. Accordingly, Ocala Jai Alai does not object to the relief requested in Appellant's Supplement and Update to Suggestion of Mootness. In light of these developments, oral argument on the merits of the appeal appears unnecessary.

(App. E-8, at 1). Despite Jai Alai's concession, the District Court required oral argument as scheduled. The argument focused on whether the appeal was moot in light of the developments. Jai Alai reversed its position again and argued *against* a finding of mootness.

On Friday, February 5, 1999, the Division issued Breeders an amended license to conduct intertrack wagering for the remainder of the 1998-1999 fiscal year, acting pursuant to the newly-enacted section 550.6308(1) (*see* App. E-9, attach). On Monday, February 8, 1999, we filed with the District Court a second

STATUTES

supplement to and renewal of suggestion of mootness) attaching a copy of the amended license (App. E-9)) because *Breeders was in fact then operating under the new statute*. Jai Alai responded on February 16, 1999 that it had *on that very same date* filed with the Division a petition for a formal administrative hearing to challenge the issuance of the amended license; it contended that its filing of the petition for an administrative hearing rendered the amended intertrack wagering license issued under the new statute merely "preliminary agency action" (App. E-10 & attach). On February 26, 1999, Breeders countered that Jai Alai was not an applicant for the license in question, had no standing to contest the issuance of the license to Breeders, and that, because the license application was complete on its face and Breeders met all the statutory requirements, the Division had been required to issue the license (App. E-11).

A scant five days after that, on March 3, 1999, the District Court issued its opinion finding section 550.615(9) unconstitutional as a special law and violative of the right to equal protection (App. F). The opinion did not address the mootness issue. Six days later, however, on March 9, 1999, the court issued a separate order denying the suggestion of mootness based upon its finding that the constitutional "issue is one of great public importance and, given the number of times the statute has been revised, it is an issue that is likely to recur":⁷

⁷ A copy of the District Court's opinion is attached as Appendix F, and a copy of its order on mootness is attached as Appendix G.

STATUTES

This case presents the reverse of the ordinary situation. Here the appellant has moved to dismiss its own appeal on the ground that it is moot and the appellee is the party objecting. The appellant has enjoyed the benefit of the statute (an automatic stay was entered because a state agency was aligned with the appellant as a party) throughout the entire course of the appellate proceeding even though the statute was declared unconstitutional in the trial court. *If the court were to grant the motion to dismiss, this entire process could repeat itself with respect to the latest version of the statute.*

(App. G, emphasis added). After the denial of our timely motion for rehearing and rehearing en banc, we timely appealed to this Court.

B.

Statement of Facts

Jai Alai operates a fronton in Marion County and holds a license authorizing the operation of pari-mutuel wagering pursuant to Chapter 550, Florida Statutes. It is licensed to conduct intertrack wagering on any class of pari-mutuel race or game operated by any class of permitholder licensed to conduct intertrack wagering. *See* § 550.615(2), Fla. Stat. (1997) (1R 2, 124; 3R 267). "`Intertrack wager[ing]' means a particular form of pari-mutuel wagering in which wagers are accepted at a permitted, in-state track, fronton, or pari-mutuel facility on a race or game transmitted from and performed live at, or simulcast signal rebroadcast from, another interstate pari-mutuel facility." § 550.002(17).

Page

STATUTES

The Division is charged with the duty of administering and regulating the pari-mutuel industry under the provisions of Chapter 550 (1R 2, 10, 124); §§ 550.0251, 550.002(7), Fla. Stat. (1997).

Breeders is an agricultural marketing cooperative and operates a permanent thoroughbred horse racing and sales facility in Marion County, where it has conducted thoroughbred horse sales since 1975, under a license issued pursuant to section 535.01 (1R 1-2, 129; 3R 369, 393-403; 5R 697-702).⁸ Its facility is located in Ocala, Florida approximately three miles west of Interstate 75 off State Road 40 (5R 698). It has stabling for 1200 horses and has conducted at its facility at least fifteen days of thoroughbred horse sales for at least three consecutive years (5R 699; 3R 396-403). During the four-year period from July 1, 1993 to June 30 1997, Breeders sold 12,263 horses, with total revenues of \$187,422,400; during that same period of time it paid \$4,736,205 in sales and other local and state taxes (5R 701-02).

In 1985, Breeders obtained a quarter horse racing permit,⁹ and having erected the required permanent facility, still holds that permit (1R 4, 130). There

⁸ We state the facts in the light most favorable to our client, Ocala Breeders' Sales, the party *against* whom summary judgment was entered (*see Moore v. Morris*, 475 So.2d 666, 668-69 (Fla. 1985)). We, of course, make every effort to state accurately the positions of all parties.

⁹ See Ocala Breeder Sales Company, Inc. v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 464 So.2d 1272 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)(ordering permit to be issued).

STATUTES

is no restriction on the number of quarter horse permits that the Division may issue. *See* § 550.334(1).

Breeders does not conduct live pari-mutuel horse racing of any type (3R 328, 378; 5R 699), but does conduct at its sales facility one day of nonwagering thoroughbred horse racing each year, with purses totaling at least \$250,000 (5R 699). *No other entity has requested to conduct such a nonwagering race event* (3R 304, 310), although there is no restriction in section 550.505(2) as to the number of nonwagering permits that the Division can issue.

Having met all of the criteria set out in section 550.615(9)(a), Breeders was licensed by the Division from 1990 through 1998 to conduct at its Marion County facility intertrack wagering on thoroughbred daytime horse races, generally only when Jai Alai was not conducting live performances. *See* 550.615(a)&(f). *No other horse sales entity has even requested a license to conduct intertrack wagering under this statute* (*see* 3R 378).

Fasig-Tipton Florida, Inc. is a wholly owned subsidiary of Fasig-Tipton Company, Inc., with headquarters in Lexington, Kentucky (3R 355-56). The parent is a major competitor and the second largest revenue producing entity in the thoroughbred horse sales industry in the United States (5R 700). Although it owns no sales facility in Florida, Fasig-Tipton has conducted at least one sale of thoroughbred horses each year since 1985, at the facilities owned by Calder Race

STATUTES

Track in Florida (3R 359, 375-77). It has never sought a license to conduct intertrack wagering in Florida (3R 360). According to its Chief Operating Officer, the company has no present plans of becoming involved in pari-mutuel wagering or intertrack wagering, or indeed in nonwagering thoroughbred racing, but he would not rule out that possibility (3R 360-61).

According to Thomas A. Chiota, President of Breeders, should Fasig-Tipton decide to do so, it could build its own Florida facility for horse sales, including a race-track to use for training sales, hold fifteen days of horse sales for three consecutive years, hold one day of nonwagering racing with a minimum of \$250,000 in purses for two consecutive years, and thereby qualify to apply for an intertrack wagering permit under section 550.615(9)(a) (3R 383-84; 5R 700-01). "The requirements for thoroughbred auction companies in the State of Florida are general enough for Fasig-Tipton or any number of other competitors to meet the requirements and obtain an intertrack wagering license" (5R 701).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. On February 5, 1999, Breeders was issued an amended license to conduct intertrack wagering and immediately began operating under that license issued pursuant section 550.6308(1), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1998). Although made aware of this fact, the District Court erroneously determined that it nevertheless had jurisdiction to decide, on an appeal from a declaratory judgment,

STATUTES

the constitutionality of section 550.615(9), even though Breeders was no longer operating pursuant to the license issued under that statute. The former statute had been, in effect, superseded during the pendency of the appeal, thus rendering any opinion on its constitutionality advisory, at best. The District Court's conclusion that the issue is one of public importance is belied by the narrowness of the issue itself. Its conclusion that the same procedure could "repeat itself with respect to the latest version of the statute" misapprehends and misapplies mootness concepts. The doctrine of "capable of repetition yet evading review" has no application here) there had been no prior litigation testing 550.615(9) and *there had been no litigation on the new statute*. Thus the issue had not been addressed previously and yet escaped review and the fact that the new statute *could be challenged in the future* does not confer on the District Court the power to reach constitutional questions not before it.

When an issue is moot it matters not that the appellant is the one seeking a declaration of mootness and the dismissal of its own appeal. Mootness is a question that goes to the jurisdiction of the court and any party can raise that issue at any time. The reason to set aside judgments that have become moot is to protect the parties from any *res judicata* effects of an opinion where meaningful review cannot be had. Thus it is not relevant that Breeders raised the mootness

STATUTES

issue. The question is whether the issue is moot. This one surely is and the District Court erroneously decided it was not.

II. In its opinion on the merits the District Court misperceived the facts and misapplied the law of this Court in ruling on the constitutional questions. In declaring section 550.615(9) unconstitutional, the court's decision that the statutory criteria for obtaining the single license in question "could only be applied, now or in the future, to Ocala Breeders" failed to analyze each discrete subsection of the section at issue. In finding the "statutory class of potential licensees ... effectively closed," the court commingled all of the subsections, and then concluded that the only way to obtain the license was to meet all of the criteria in the section. But that approach violates the intent of the legislature, evidenced by its division of section (9) into subsections, each serving different purposes and each to be analyzed separately.

II-A. Based upon its plain language, subsection (a) of section 550.615(9) is a valid general law. The criteria established by the legislature that an applicant must meet to qualify for a license to conduct intertrack wagering under section 550.615(9)(a) are generic, applicable in a uniform manner to all, and open to future applicants who hold a strong demonstrated interest in the horse sales industry. The fact that no other entity has qualified yet does not prove unconstitutionality.

Page

STATUTES

Giving deference to the legislative enactment, this Court should determine that the criteria in (a) bear a reasonable and rational relationship to the purposes of the statute, *i.e.*, to help shore up a declining industry that has a strong presence in Florida, and to promote higher revenues for the state from taxes and income generated by the intertrack wagering and from the collateral benefits of greater employment potential for those interested in the horse sales field. The requirement for a quarter horse permit was to promote greater quarter horse interest and was simply a way of creating another category of applicants for the intertrack wagering license here at issue because so few such permits had been sought. A quarter horse permit is available to all who seek to qualify under section 550.334(1) and *the criteria for obtaining a quarter horse permit have not been challenged in this action*. There is *nothing* in the record to support a finding that no one else could qualify *in the future*. Beginning now, in three years, *any interested entity could qualify* for the license under the provisions of subsection (a).

The Court does not sit as a superlegislative body and should not substitute its judgment for that of the legislative branch in its role of designing criteria to promote legitimate goals of its laws, as long as those criteria are rationally related to the goals of the legislation. Not only did the District Court err in concluding that section 550.615(9)(a) is a special act, it also erred in determining that the criteria were so narrowly drawn as to apply only to Breeders, that the statute

STATUTES

described a closed classification and violated equal protection guarantees. In its ruling the District Court substituted its judgment for that of the legislature.

II-B. If, as we urge, subsection (a) is a valid general law, the Court need not address the merits of the challenge to subsections (b) and (e), also challenged by Jai Alai as violative of equal protection principles. Jai Alai has wholly failed to demonstrate that it has a constitutional interest in the provisions of 550.615(9)(b) and (e) and has no standing to challenge these portions of the statute, nor is there any record upon which such a judgment could be predicated.

Moreover, the District Court's decision that the criteria in subsection (b) violate the concepts set out by this Court in *Hialeah Race Course, Inc. v. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n*, 245 So. 2d 625 (Fla. 1971), misapplies that decision and misunderstands the Court's ruling in that case.

II-C. Subsection (e) simply suspends the revocation of the quarter horse permit for the failure to hold quarter horse races as long as the permitholder holds the license authorized by subsection (a). Jai Alai is not a quarter horse permitholder and has no standing to invoke the equal protection rights of other quarter horse permitholders who are not parties to this action.

II-D. Of course, were the Court to reach either (b) or (e) and determine that either subsection violates equal protection principles, it also could determine that these subsections are severable, and, if invalid, could be invalidated without

STATUTES

Page

violence to the remainder of the statute or the legislative intent. Such an analysis should await another day, however, when the Court would have the benefit of a claim by a real party in interest, based upon a ripe case or controversy.

STATUTES

Page

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ISSUING AN ADVISORY OPINION AND REJECTING THE SUGGESTION OF MOOTNESS.

An issue is moot when the controversy has been so fully resolved that a judicial determination can have no actual effect. *Dehoff v. Imeson*, 153 Fla. 553, 15 So. 2d 258 (1943). A case is "moot" when it presents no actual controversy or when the issues have ceased to exist. Black's Law Dictionary 1008 (6th ed. 1990). A moot case generally will be dismissed.

Godwin v. State, 593 So. 2d 211, 212 (Fla. 1992). We suggest this case is moot.

On May 1, 1998, the Legislature approved an act which in effect replaced

section 550.615(9), Florida Statutes (1997) with section 550.6308, Florida Statutes

(Supp. 1998), entitled "Limited intertrack wagering license," providing amended

criteria for the issuance of a single intertrack wagering license (see App. D).¹⁰

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