IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

OCALA BREEDERS' SALES COMPANY, INC.,) No. 95,561 Appellant,) 1st DCA No. 97-4783 v.) FLORIDA GAMING CENTERS, INC., d/b/a) OCALA JAI ALAI, et al.,) Appellees.)

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal, First District

> ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE JAI ALAI INCLUDING APPENDIX

| ROBERT P. SMITH Florida Bar No. 075630 JAMES S. ALVES |
|---|
| Florida Bar No. 443750 |
| GABRIEL E. NIETO Florida Bar No. 147559 |
| Hopping Green Sams & Smith, P.A. |
| 123 South Calhoun St. (32301) |
| Post Office Box 6526 |
| Tallahassee, FL 32314 |
| (850) 222-7500 |
| Attorneys for Florida Gaming |
| Centers, Inc., d/b/a Ocala Jai Alai |
| |

CERTIFICATION AS TO TYPE STYLE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The case is not moot. Although a 1998 statute performs the same function as § 550.615(9), which is to secure Breeders' Sales Inc.'s protected status as Florida's exclusive off-track betting parlor, § 550.6308 did not repeal, expressly or impliedly, the statute that the First District has declared to be unconstitutional. Thus, Breeders' Sales remains free to utilize § 550.615(9) as a licensing mechanism to legalize its off-track betting, and the trial court's injunction, prohibiting such a result, continues to have full force and effect. The fact that Breeders' Sales now has two alternative sources of (illegal) licensure does not end the ongoing controversy as to either of

those sources.

II. The First District decision is correct: the statute in question, now § 550.615(9), Fla. Stat. (1997), is both a prohibited special act, enacted without notice, and an arbitrary classification violating equal protection of the laws.

This Court has confirmed that a statute that has the effect of securing special privileges for a specific entity is invalid. <u>Hialeah Race Course, Inc. v. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n</u>, 245 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1971); <u>West Flagler Kennel Club, Inc. v. Florida</u> <u>State Racing Comm'n</u>, 153 So.2d 5 (Fla. 1963). This proscription applies to statutes that employ a "descriptive technique" to secure benefits for one recipient under the guise of a classification. <u>West Flagler</u>, 153 So.2d at 8. It is not decisive that some more inclusive application of the challenged statute may be theoretically or hypothetically possible. The decisive question is whether more than one entity may "reasonably be expected" to qualify under the challenged provision. <u>Hialeah</u>

<u>Race Course</u>, 245 So.2d at 629.Section 550.615(9) runs afoul of these established principles.

This statute, like those in <u>Hialeah Race Course</u> and <u>West</u> <u>Flagler</u>, secures special benefits for only one entity: Breeders' Sales Inc. The combination of initial qualifications and tiebreaker provisions insures that no other company can ever "reasonably be expected to qualify" for the single § 550.615(9) license available.

For the reasons elaborated in <u>West Flagler</u>, the statute is a prohibited special act, enacted without the constitutional protections of due notice. And for the reasons elaborated in <u>Hialeah Race Course</u>, the statute violates equal protection of the laws by its arbitrary classification.

III. Jai Alai has standing in this lawsuit. If appellant Breeders' Sales Inc. preserved a "standing" issue in circuit court, which is doubtful considering its argument against the summary judgment which that court granted, that contention is without merit. The competitive injury inflicted on Jai Alai by the licensing scheme complained of is well documented in this record; indeed, the legislature itself recognized that injury.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CASE IS NOT DISMISSIBLE AS MOOT

A. Since § 550.615(9), formerly § 550.61(8), is neither repealed nor replaced, and its only beneficiary is

striving to preserve it from unconstitutionality, the case cannot be moot.

In enacting § 550.6308, which Breeders' Sales Inc. contends moots the case, the 1998 legislature neither repealed nor amended § 550.615(9), and it did not declare, in the common verbiage, that inconsistent legislation was repealed. Ch. 98-190, Laws of Fla.

Section § 550.615(9) is not in fact inconsistent with the new statute, § 550.6308. Rather, the two are parallel or alternative licensing schemes. Nothing in the text of the new statutory scheme suggests that Breeders' Sales Inc. licensure under the old and subsisting scheme is no longer tenable.

The idea of implied repeal is supported only by the prediction of Breeders' Sales Inc. that § 550.615(9), Fla. Stat. (1998) will be expressly repealed in the future by "a routine reviser's bill." Init. Br. p. 16, n. 2. This prediction of future legislation is impressive as a display of appellant's confidence in its lobbying prowess, but the prediction does not moot the case.

It seems reasonable to ask why, if Breeders' Sales Inc. did not wish to preserve § 550.615(9) for alternative future use, or as insurance against defeat or delay in § 550.6308 licensing, Breeders' Sales Inc. did not ask the 1998 legislature simply to repeal § 550.615(9). No one else had an interest in preserving

it. Breeders' Sales Inc. certainly has shown its presence on the legislative record since 1990, and its invariable effectiveness. We repeat: Why, if § 550.615(9) is of no further value to Breeders' Sales Inc., was it not repealed? Why indeed, if that statute is destined for inevitable repeal, is this Court asked to preserve the statute from the First District's judgment?

Repeal by implication is generally disfavored. <u>Debolt v.</u> <u>Department of HRS</u>, 427 So.2d 221, 224 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). A court "should not presume that new law was designed to render existing law meaningless"; rather it should "favor a construction that gives effect to both statutes." <u>Chiles v. Division of</u> Elections, 711 So.2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998).

[T]he mere fact that a later statute relates to matters covered in whole or in part by a prior statute does not cause a repeal of the older statute. If the two may operate upon the same subject without positive inconsistency or repugnancy in their practical effect and consequences, they should each be given the effect designed for them unless a contrary intent clearly appears.

<u>State ex. rel. Myers v. Cone</u>, 190 So. 698, 701 (Fla. 1939) (e.a.), accord <u>Caloosa Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Palm Beach County</u>, 429 So.2d 1260, 1265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983).

Breeders' Sales Inc. misreads <u>Debolt</u> as supporting its argument that § 550.6308 has "in effect" been repealed. (Appt. Init. Br. p. 15 n. 10). That decision held a statute granting absolute tort immunity for a specific government agency was repealed by a new statute broadly waiving governmental tort immunity for <u>all</u> agencies <u>Debolt</u>, 427 So.2d at 224. There was no logical way to reconcile the former statute with the newer one. No similar situation is presented here.

The circuit court judgment prohibits Breeders' Sales Inc. from operating under and prohibits the Department from licensing Breeders' Sales Inc. by virtue of § 550.615(9). 5R 758, 764. Since enforcing that judgment and the First District affirmance cannot be characterized as "merely . . . voiding legislation that had already been voided by repeal," <u>Glisson v. Alachua County</u>, 558 So.2d 1030, 1037 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), there is no plausible argument that the judgments here under review should be vacated as moot. On the contrary, vacating those judgments would only invite Breeders' Sales Inc. to initiate, again, the entire licensure and litigation process that brought us to this Court.

B. Even if licensure under § 550.615(9) were no longer possible, the adjudication below must be preserved, unless reversed on the merits, as precedent for judging the similar effect of § 550.6308, which the parties are now litigating.

"A case is 'moot' when it presents no actual controversy or when the issues have ceased to exist." <u>Godwin v. State</u>, 593 So.2d 211, 212 (Fla. 1992). The broad issue on which the courts below have spoken - the efficacy of legislation that hand-picks Breeders' Sales Inc. and screens off other contenders from the

license - has now been reborn by Breeders' Sales Inc.'s success in lobbying § 550.6308 through the 1998 legislature. Circuit court litigation challenging that statute constitutionally and administrative litigation contesting other aspects of its application have now been joined between the parties.

The circuit court and district court of appeal judgments that Breeders' Sales Inc. would have the Court vacate are of enormous significance as precedent in the pending litigation in other forums. (For their prophylactic effect, one would hope that those decisions will also command respectful attention in the legislature, where political influence otherwise holds sway.) The value of those judgments as precedent precludes any finding of mootness. In Godwin v. State, 593 So.2d 211, 214 (Fla. 1992), this Court found that an appeal from an order of involuntary commitment under the Baker Act was not rendered moot by the release of the person so confined, because the result of the appeal still had potential consequences, i.e., unless the confinement was held improper, the state retained the right to recover the costs of the confinement. Godwin, 593 So.2d at 214. It was not necessary, in order to prevent mootness, that this potential consequence be certain to occur; the state had not indicated that it would seek a cost recovery. Id. The existence of a legal right to such a recovery was sufficient to preserve the appeal from mootness.

Similarly, the potential of Breeders' Sales Inc. being issued a § 550.615(9) license without regard for the judgments below precludes a finding of mootness. This is evident from examination of the very cases cited by Breeders' Sales: <u>Santa</u> <u>Rosa County v. Admin. Comm'n</u>, 661 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1995) and <u>Dehoff v. Imeson</u>, 15 So.2d 258 (1943). Both <u>Santa Rosa</u> and <u>Dehoff involved an intervening event that deprived the lower</u> court judgment of all practical effect. In <u>Santa Rosa County</u>, the intervening event was a stipulated agreement that fully resolved the parties' dispute. 661 So.2d at 1193. In <u>Dehoff</u>, it was the natural expiration of the term of an elected office that was the subject of the litigation. In both cases the intervening event resolved <u>all</u> issues in the case and deprived a judgment below of <u>any</u> effect. No analogous situation is presented here.

It is understandable that Breeders' Sales would wish to restore a regime in which, undeterred by the precedents created below, Breeders' could toggle back and forth between parallel licensing mechanisms, § 550.615(9) and § 550.6308, and preserve indefinitely its special dispensation for off-track betting. The waste of judicial effort in this and ensuing litigations is a possibility that cannot be countenanced. See <u>Martinez v.</u> <u>Scanlan</u>, 582 So.2d 1167, 1173 (Fla. 1991).

C. Even if Breeders' Sales Inc.'s appeal were otherwise moot, the proper remedy would be to dismiss the appeal

without effect on the circuit court's final judgment.

The supposed mooting event is Breeders' Sales Inc.'s application for licensure under the 1998 statute. But where the claimed mooting event is the act of the very appellant who cries "my appeal is moot!," the correct practice is to dismiss the appeal without effect to the lower court judgment. <u>U.S. Bancorp</u> <u>Mortgage Corp. v. Bonner Mall Partnership</u>, 513 U.S. 18, 24-25 (1994); Dilley v. Gunn, 64 F.3d 1365, 1370 (9th Cir. 1995).

Breeders' Sales Inc.'s argument (Init. Br. p. 17) misconstrues U.S. v. Munsingwear and ignores later U.S. Supreme Court precedent when it argues that this Court should vacate the trial court's judgment. In U.S. Bancorp., the Supreme Court limited Munsingwear and held that automatic vacatur occurs only in narrow circumstances: (1) where the case "becomes moot due to circumstances that are not attributable to any of the parties"; or (2) "mootness results from the unilateral action of the party who prevailed in the lower court." 513 U.S. at 23. In all other circumstances the vacatur decision is made "in view of the nature and character of the conditions which have caused the case to become moot." Id. at 24; see also Jones v. Temmer, 57 F.3d 921, 923 (10th Cir. 1995); Dilley, 64 F.3d 1365, 1370 (vacatur is improper where mootness is not due to "happenstance . . ., but when the appellant by his own act caused the dismissal of the appeal"); accord, In re United States, 927 F.2d 626, 628 (D.C.

Cir. 1991); <u>Clarendon Ltd. v. Nu-West Indus, Inc</u>., 936 F.2d 127 (3d Cir. 1991); see also, <u>Westmoreland v. National Transportation</u> <u>Safety Board</u>, 833 F.2d 1461 (11th Cir. 1987) (vacatur should not be granted automatically, but by application of judicial policy considerations).

It is obvious that during the First District appeal, Breeders' Sales Inc. lobbied the legislature to provide, in the bill that became § 550.6308, what Breeders' Sales Inc. hoped would be a more defensible statute. When the bill passed, Breeders' Sales Inc. voluntarily chose to seek a renewed license under § 550.6308 rather than 550.615(9). The "mootness" that Breeders' Sales Inc. perceives in this case, therefore, is attributable not to "happenstance" but to actions of Breeders' Sales Inc., itself. "To allow a party who steps off the statutory track [of appellate review] to employ the secondary remedy of vacatur as a refined form of collateral attack on the judgment would - quite apart from any consideration of fairness to the parties - disturb the orderly operation of the . . . judicial system." <u>U.S. Bancorp</u>, 513 U.S. at 27.

There is no merit in the contention that the judgments below should be vacated as moot.

II. SECTION 550.615(9) INDEED IS A SPECIAL ACT, ENACTED WITHOUT REGARD FOR CONSTITUTIONAL NOTICE PROCEDURES; AND ITS ARBITRARY CLASSIFICATION ALSO

VIOLATES EQUAL PROTECTION STANDARDS IN THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS.

 A. Section 550.615(9), Florida Statutes, creates an exclusive off-track betting franchise and qualifies Breeders' Sales Inc. as the only potential licensee.

In a wonderfully earnest effort, Breeders' Sales Inc. argues that it simply wasn't successful in its assiduous efforts, 1990 to date, to get a law enacted whereby Breeders' Sales Inc. alone can garner off-track betting profits on terms granted to no one else in the state. It's possible, so the argument goes, for someone else to have beaten us at this annual licensing game. Granted, no one ever did. Granted, no one ever tried. Granted, beating us would have been tough, given that the statute rewards our unique history, unrelated to quarter horse racing, and the statute honors our shell permit for quarter horse racing by

attaching to it our franchise for off-track betting. But it was mathematically, theoretically *possible* - says Breeders Sales Inc.

The argument does not wash.

Perhaps the statute as enacted in 1990 might have deserved sympathetic constitutional scrutiny due to its "public purpose" of using Breeders' Sales Inc. only as a conduit of funds for "additional breeders' awards." But the statute has had no such cover since its conversion to a private profit-getting enterprise in 1992. The 1992 legislation "eclipsed" that public purpose, as the circuit judge aptly observed. Final Judgment, 5R 762.

As we have previously detailed, *supra* pp. 3, 4, the legislative committee records confirm what is plain from the statutory text as enacted in 1990 and 1991: the statute was intended to and it does restrict this otherwise illegal off-track betting license to a single entity: Breeders' Sales Inc. 3R 421 (1990), 3R 430 (1992). We doubt that so clear a case of "legislative intent" has ever been presented to this Honorable Court: the transcript of deliberations by the House subcommittee on parimutuels on March 19, 1991, plainly records one member voicing his concerns that passing this bill would surely encourage others, no less deserving than Breeders Sales Inc., to lobby for a proliferation of legislative franchises of this sort. "Because the way they've drawn this bill," he declared, "it's so tightly drawn to be just them"; but "we know good and well what's

next and that's somebody else asking for the same thing." 3R 447.

Our argument cannot improve upon this cold committee transcript. The sponsoring committee, itself, voiced recognition that the licensing criteria were "so tightly drawn to be just them," Breeders' Sales Inc.

In sum, the delimiting criteria were and are:

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